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1. Name of Property
historic name  Fillmore City Cemetery

other names/site number  The Silent City

2. Location
street & number 325 East 600 South not for publication
city or town  Fillmore vicinity
. fEXT"
state UT code MDO7 county Millard code 4AQCHt zip code 84631

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended,

| hereby certify that this X_ nomination request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for
registering properties in the National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements
set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.

In my opinion, the property X meets does not meet the National Register Criteria. | recommend that this property
be considered significant at the following level(s) of sigrjificance:

nationai . [i  statewide ~ X local

Slgnati rtifying official/Title Date

Utah Division of State History, Office of Historic Preservation
State or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government

In my opinion, the property meets does not meet the National Register criteria.

Signature of commenting official Date

Title State or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Govemment

4. NatioEral Park Service Certification
| hereby oertify that this property is:

entered in the National Register . determined eligible for the National Register

determined not eligible for the National Register . removed from the National Register

«l ISignature of the Keeper Date of Action
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5. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property Number of Resources within Property
(Check as many boxes as apply.) (Check only one box.) (Do not include previously listed resources in the count.)

Contributing ~ Noncontributing

private building(s) 2 buildings
public - Local district 1 sites
public - State site 1 structures
public - Federal structure objects
object 1 Total
Name of related multiple property listing Number of contributing resources previously
(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing) listed in the National Register
N/A
6. Function or Use
Historic Functions Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions.)

(Enter categories from Instructions.)

FUNERARY]cemetery FUNERARY/cemetery

7. Description

Architectural Classification Materials
(Enter categories from instructions.)
(Enter categories from instmctions.)
NA foundation:
N/A

walls: sandstone

roof:  NA
other. paths - sandstone

roads - asphalt
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Narrative Description

(Describe the historic and current physical appearance of the property. Explain contributing and noncontributing resources
if necessary. Begin with a summary paragraph that briefly describes the general characteristics of the property, such as
its location, setting, size, and significant features.)

Summary Paragraph

The 12.6-acre Fillmore City Cametery wias begun on 20 March 1852 with the burid of nineteen-month old Leroy King. It
is located within the Fillmore City limits in an agricultural areasouthesst of downtown Fillmore. The caneery is
aurrounded by fields and undevdloped land on aflat plain near the foothillsof the Pahwvant Mountainsto the eedt. The
Pawant Vdley dretches toward the horizon to the west. The main entrance to the cemetary isa its northwest comer and
is marked by sanddone veneared pillars. The cametary islaid out on acardind grid smilar to the layout of Fillmore
City, dbeit with amdler blocks and narrower sregts. The linear design isreinforced by rows of evergreen conifers a the
perimeter of the main roads. These trees can be saan from the distance, miaking the camelery a highly visible landmeark.
The oldest sections of the ceamalery are diginguished by the use of loca red sandgtonefor heeddones pavers and comer
markers. The newer sections have marble and granite grave markers. Al of the graves in the two mogt recently
devdoped s=ctions on the west and north Sdes of the camnatlary have flat markers Theearliest gravestones ae asmple
tablet stylewith lettering only. More daborate syles, including gdlae, with ornamentation in addition to lettering can be
s in the marble gravestones dating from the early 20* century. Footstones as well as heeddones mark some graves,
but there isamarked aosance of odentation among the gravestones, with the resarve and modest means of modt of the
camaey's inhabitants reflected in their fina resting places

Narrative Description
Location and Context

The Fillmore City Cametary, edablished in 1852, islocated onaflat 12.6-acre Ste about 1-1/2 miles southeest of
downtown Fillmore. It isreached by traveling south on 325 Eadt Srest from 500 South Stret to the main entrance st
diagond to its northwest comer. The paving on 325 Eadt Strest ends a the camelery entrance but the street continues as
adirt road paralldling the west Sde of the cametary until it turns eedt & the southwest comer of the Ste and follows its
southern border to an dectrica subgtation directly south of the eegemmog section of the cemetery. Thedirt road
continues 2 blocks south from the subgtation as 500 Eagt Stret, where it tums eedt as 900 South Strest and intersects
with 700 Eagt Stret, providing a sscondary aocess to the cametery from the southeedt.

There are swesgping vidas toward the Pahwant Valey to the west and the Pahwant Mountain Range to the eest across the
farmfiel dsthat border the cametery's north, eest and west ddes The land south of the camnelery isdso flat, but shows
no signsof cultivation. It is sparsdy vegetated with grasses forbs and shrubs,

Entrances and Fencing

The main entrance gate of black ornamenta metd is atached to the back or indde of pillars venesred with loca red
sanddonein arandom aghlar pattem, topped by light gray precegt concrete caps. Black carriage lamps are centered on
the front (northwest) Sde of each pillar with the tops about eight inches beow the pillar caps The 6 1/2-foot-tdl pillars
adjacent to the diagond driveway are connected to the 5 1/2-foot outer pillars by a4-foot by 4-foot section of black
omamenta metd fence on the west and a pededtrian gate of the same dimendons on the eest. An 8-foot wide by 4-foot
tall monument sgn with the cametery name is atached to the shorter pillar onthe eest Sde. Theblack lettering of the
dgn issH of f againg awhite succo background framed by the same sanddtone veneer asthe pillars. While the main
entrance uses local sandgonein kegping with the historic character of the ceametery, it was inddled in 2004 and isa non-
contributing feature.
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A gated ceamdlery sarvice entranceislocated at the north end of 500 Eagt Street near the entrance to the dectrica
aubgation. The gateis mede of two pandsof white-painted souare ged tubing weded to spdl "Fillmore City
Cemetery.” Theword "CITY" issplit in half & the top center of the gate pands with "FILLMORE" swesping up from
the outsde bottom of the west pand and "CEMETERY" dropping from the insde top to the outside bottom of the eest
pand. Straight vertical pickets and a series of three diagona crosspieces angling up toward the canter support the
lettering. Thetops of the outside frames curve down about two-thirds out from the center S0 the outsides of the top
sctions are about afoot lower than the centars. Thisgate was origindly ingtdled as a 1997 or 1998 Eagle Scout project
& the main gate a the west end of the north ceametery road a ether Sde of a caitle guard dating from 1938. While this
gate demondrateslocd vernacular craft, itisaso anon-contributing festure.

The cematay is urrounded by afield wire fence topped by asingle srand of barbed wire supported by T-posts The use
of field or "net" wire fencing topped by barbed wire isahistorica festure datingto 1924, but it was originaly supported
by wooden podsrather than metd T-pogts Thistype of wire fencing is authentic and contributes to the integrity of the
cametery.

Layout and Circulation

Therectangular cemetery parcd is oriented dong an eest-west axis and islaid out in agrid pattem of blocks meesuring 2
rods (33 feet) square. Each block is subdivided into 4 lots measuring one rod (16.5 feet) square Each lot contains 8
individud grave stesin 2 rowsof 4 with the long axes oriented eest-west. The cameery is 12 blockswide north to south
by 22 blocks long eedt to west & its grestest extent. Theroadsin the cemetery follow the grid layout and divideiit into 7
main sections, which are surrounded by the roads except the northernmaost saction which hes no roeds on itsnorth and
et 9des

The northemmog section is 17 blocks eest-west by 2 blocks north-south. Continuing clockwise, the eestemimaodt section
is 2 blocks eest-west by 9 blocks north-south, the northeast-central section is 7 blocks eest-west by 2 blocks north-south,
the southeest-centrd section is 7 blocks eest-west by 8 blocks north-south, the southwest central section is 9 blocks eedt-
wegt by 8 blocks north-south, the northwest-central section is 9 blocks eest-west by 2 blocks north-south, and the
wesemmod section is 3-1/2 blocks eest-west by 10-1/2 blocks north-south. A smdl 8¢ section of 4 blocks running eest-
wedt islocated south of the perimeter road in the southwest comer of the cemetery.

Thecirculation sysem condds of agphdt-paved primary roads and grass-covered secondary pathway's one-hdf rod (8
feet 3 inches) wide. The pethways ooccur between each row and column of blocksin all but the northemmogt and
esgemmog sctions of the cametery. Red sanddone pavers are st into the grass between same of the blocksin the south
centrdl sections.

The paved width of the agphdt roadsisabout 18 feet, excapt the road between the north and south centrd sections of the
cametery, which isabout 9 feet wide. Theroads typicaly merge into the edge of the lawn with curbing only on the insde
of the road a the four corners bordering the centrd sections. Mogt of the secondary paths between the blocks are covered
with turfgrass and are dmogt indiginguishable from the burid plots. Split red sandgone pavers varying from 12-16
inches in width and length are st into the peths a 2-block intervals north-south and 3-block intervals eest-west in the
south centrd sections of the cametery.

Gravestones and Markers

Thetwo large south-centrd sections of the cemetary are the dldest, and are known as the Fioneer Section. Fillmore City
Council minutes indicate the eest central section wes platted first. There are ssnddone comer markers gpproximeately 2

inches to 3 inches square and & leest 12 inches degp stfl ushwith the ground & the intersection of some blocksin the
Fonexr Section. Itislikely they were placed a the comers of dl of the blocksin this section, but only afew are readily
vishle. Itisassumed that the others have sunk or have bean removed or dameged.
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The ddest heeddones marking individua gravesites inthe Fionear section are of locd red sanddonein the upright
rectanguler tablet syle. Some of these heedgtones are saverdy weathered and others have sunk into the ground. There
ae dso makas of marble in this section, somein the Smpletablet style and other more daborate ddlae. These weare
probably carved by Peter Lorenzo Bmnson, alocd gone carver who sold and carved marble grave markers. Later granite
gravesonesin both upright and flush gyles are intergpersed among the older ones, some replacing earlier goneslogt to
westhering.

Thetwo smdler centrd sections north of the Fionesr Section were devdoped after the larger sections, but follow the
sare layout with one-haf rod paths between esch row and column of blocks. The gravestones ae similar to thoseinthe
Foneer Section, with amix of older and newer gonesin marble and granite, both upright and flush.

The Hagpole Section directly west of the Fioneer Section was developed next and weas dso laid out with paths between
blocks. It contains monuments and gravesites assodated with World War [l. The gravestonesin this section are all mede
of granite s flush in aconcrete border on grade with the lawn.

The E or Eadt Section was laid out after the Hagpole Section. Itisabout half full of graveswith modtly upright
heaeddones of granite. The newest section isthe areaextending eest-west dong the north portion of the cangeary. It is
known as the Flat Section and contains in-ground or flat granite monuments. The uge of flat monuments hes often bean
miscongrued and edopted as afunctiona innovation to meke lawn maintenance eedier. It wes actudly devissd to give
camadies desgned inthe memorid park syle adesker, flowing look thet fit in with the art deco and modemism
movemats of the early to mid-twentieth century.  The blocksin these two later sections abut eech other with no paths
betwean in kegping with the Impler style.

Sructures i

An 8-foot long by 5-foot wide open-ended wooden information kiosk with aburia directory on the north ingdewall and
amgp of the cemetery on the south inddewall islocated a the northwest comer of a 12-foot by 16-foot wooden dorage
shed on the north Sde of the road & the intersection of the diagond entrance driveway with the road surrounding the west
central sctions. A 30-foot by 40-foot metd shed surrounded by a 90-foot by 140-foot agphdt ped wasingtdled in 2000
adjacent to the north dde of the road around the eestemmog section of burid plots. Theinformation kiosk and wooden
dhed are e recant, but their congtruction detes are unknown. None of the three sructures are contributing fegtures.

An agphdt driveway curves westerly from the northwest comer of the agphet pad to asoil doragearea A doubletrack
dirt road continues wes from the driveway pegt a35-foot diameter water tank and tessinto 325 Eadt Sreat about 90 feet
north of the man cemetary gae

Vegetation

The entire cametery grounds are green and manicured. Turfgrass covers the gravesites. Rows of Colorado goruce trees
border the exterior of the perimeter roads and the outsdes of the roads betwean the center sections and the et and west
sctions. A number of shede and omamentd treesand shrulss are scattered among the lots, blocks, and gravesites A
piped sprinkler irrigation system provides water to the plantings.
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property
for National Register listing.)

A Property is associated with events that have made a
significant contribution to the broad patterns of our
history.

PY B  Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

Property embodies the distinctive characteristics

of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses high
artistic values, or represents a significant

and distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information
important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.)

Property is:

A Owned by a religious institution or used for religious
purposes.

B removed from its original location.

C abirthplace or grave.

D a cemetery.

E areconstructed building, object, or stmcture
F acommemorative property.

G less than 50 years old or achieving significance
within the past 50 years.

Period of Significance (justification)

The period of significance for the Fillmore City Cameatary datesfrom its establishment in 1852 and extends through the

(Expires 5/31/2012)

Millard, Utah
County and State

Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions.)

EXPLORATION/SETTLEMENT

ARCHITECTURE

Period of Significance
1852 to 1960

Significant Dates

1852, 1868

Significant Person
(Complete only if Criterion B is marked above.)

N/A
Cultural Affiliation

N/A

Architect/Builder

N/A

expandgon and beautification periods of its devd opment in 1960.
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Criteria Considerations (explanation, if necessary)

The Fillmore City Cametary medts Criteria Condderation D as acemaay that is significant under Criterion A for
asodiation with eventsimportant to the settlement, palitics'govemment, and rdligious and socid higtory of the date of
Utah and the city of Fillmore. Itissignificant under Criterion C as avernacular landscape exemplifying the evolution
and adaptation of generd cemetlery design trends and omamentation by Mormon colonid villagersas well as for the
variety of desgn in the heed dones

Statement of Significance Summary Paragraph (Provide a summary paragraph that includes level of significance and
applicable criteria.)

The Fillmore City Cameery, established in 1852, isan active burid ground thet links the city to its founders and its
edablishment as Utah's territorial capitd in 1851. It possesses integrity of location, design, setting, materids,
workmanship, feeling, and assodiaion for itsperiod of significance from 1852 to 1960. The Sgnature grid layout and use
of locad sanddone that distinguish the cametery were established in the first phese of devdopment and carried through
the expangon and beauttification phesesin some form.

The cametley retains its integrity for the period of significance and medts Nationd Regiger CriteriaA, and C, ad
CriteriaCondderation D (for acemetery) a the locd level. Under Criterion A. the Fillmore City Cameay is significant
for its assodiaion with events rdated to the founding, sattlement and early history of Fillmore. The camdery wies
egtablished a atime when congruction of the Territorid Satehouse was undeway and early sessions of the Territorial
Legidature were hdd in Fillmore. 1t isthe only cemetery in Fillmore, and is therefore the final resting place of a number
of the city's founders and early leeders. Other buridsin the cemetery are linked to severd controversd eventsin the
early higory of Fillmore. The cametery contains the graves of Captain John Gunnison, who wes killed in the Gunnison
Massecre, and of 14-year-old Proctor Robison whose degth wis cited as acatdy4 for the Mountain Measdows Massecre
by mmors of aspring supposedy poisoned by membersof the Fancher Wagon Train.

Under Criterion C. the Fillmore City Cametary is significant as atypica Mormon colonid cemetery from the early period
of sattlement in Utah as well as for the variety and craftamanship in heeddone design. The location of the cemetery
beyond the original town center, cardind grid layout, and plantings of lavns and evergreen treesis condgent with thet of
early cameeiesin thirty-five other Mormon villages settled between 1847 and 1851 that were examined for comparison.
The design and devdopment of these cemeteries reflect the adoption of camgery design trends of Westem Europe and
the U.S. from the mid-19* century through the mid-20™ century, and their adgptation and smplification by Mormon
colonigs living in ahigh desart environment with scarce resources. The Fillmore City Cametary isavemacular landscgpe
that was expanded as more buria plots were needed in an orderly manner followingitsinitial cardind grid layout.
Individual graves are oriented eest-west according to Chrigtian custom. They ae smple plots of grassmarked only by
headdones, with no curbing, fencing or tombs. A few larger monuments mark the graves of more prominent citizens.
The earliest gravesones of loca sandgtone showcaee the skill of locd gone mesons who worked on the Territorial
Satehouse Marble and granite heedgtonesadom later graves. Landscgpe plantings ae smple, condsting of lawns,
evergrean trees (primarily adong roads), scattered deciduous trees, and afew shmbs The Fillmore City Camelery retains
ahigh degree of integrity, meking it an excdlent example of an early camelery in aPlat of Zion Mormon colonid village.
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Narrative Statement of Significance (Provide at least one paragraph for each area of significance.)

History of the Fillmore City Cemetery

The sattlement of Fillmore began on 28 October 1851. On 20 March 1852 Leroy King, the ningteenrmonth-old son of
Thomas and Matilda King, died of scarlet fever. Narrative histories indicate his grave marked the beginning of the
community's cemetery, located southeedt of the settlement (Lyman, p.49).

Ore of the curiogties of cametery devdopment in Mormon villagesis that thereis no evidence of their having bean
planned & part of the At of Zion town layout. Rether, they seam to have been established dmog as after-thoughts on
the outskirts of town asdictated by necessity. What might & first gopeer to be an oversght intown planning might be
explained by briefly reviewing the history of cametery planning and design from the time of the founding of the Church
of Jeaus Chrig of Latter-day Saintsand the westem migration of its members

Locating the cametery on a Ste outside of town is condgtent with 19*-century buria practicesin partsof New England,
England and Europethat wereinfluenced by both Cavinist rdigious reforms and the romantic landscape movement. In
the communitiesof Colonid New England sattled by Puritans, graveyardswere percaived as secular. Early Puritans
rgjected churchyard burids as they rebdled againg other "papis” practices Ingtead, many 17+ century New England
towns st adde land as common community burid grounds. The rurd cametery movemant that sav park-like cameteries
deveoped outsde of townsgot underway inthe United Statein 1831 with the founding of Mount Aubum Cemetery, &
Cambridge, neer Bogton by leeders of the MassachusattsHorticultura Society. The Church of Jesus Chrigt of Latter-day
Saints (Mormon) was founded a year earlier in update New York. Inadditionto Cavinigt burid grounds, eerly converts
from New England, England and Europewould likely have bean avare of the rura cemetery movemeant, which darted a
the begiiming of the 19* century inthe Old World, particularly with the Pare Lachaise Cametery in Paris, established in
1804.

Placing the Fillmore City Cametery on adry hillside above Chak Cresk mede sense from a practica andpoint as well.
Public hedth concemsinthe 19 century dictated that bodies especidly of thosewho died of communicable diseesss, be
buried away from citiesand water sources. 1t dso mede san=e to locate the cemetary away from irrigable land nesded for
agriculture in a sdlf-sugtaining village with scarce resources

Burid plotswerelaid out on acardind grid, mirroring the layout of the city, abeit with much amdler lotsand blocks
than the Plat of Zion survey of Fillmore mandated by Brigham Young. Fillmore was surveyed with an eye to growth into
amgor city asthe capita of the Utah Territory, ancther practica resson to place the cametery awvay from land doseto
the city canter that might one day be nesded for city lots.

During the summer of 1868 anew section of the cemetery. Flat A, was surveyed, just west of the first cametery. The lots
wereore rod (165 feet) square and four lotsto the block with walks 8 feet 3 incheswide running north and south as well
aseedt and west between the blocks, and a roed two rods (33 feet) wide all around the cametery. The plat mgp d<o
shows aroad running north-south between the fourth and fifth columns of blocks. Fioneer burids dating to 1853 were
recorded a thistime, but earlier burids do not gopeer in the sexton'srecords. George Finlinson, who came from
England, wes gppointed first sextonin 1864. The ssoond sexton was Jesse Millgate who hdd the job for many years
John Davies Murray Davies, and Orlo Bartholomew were sextonsin succeading years. (Day pp. 31, 190-191)

A Mormon town plans were based in varying degree on the Plat of the City of Zion envisioned by the Prophet Joseph Smith.
The city was to be one mile square with ten-acre blocks each forty rods square. Streets were to be 132 feet wide. Farm
fields were to be laid off around the platted town. While Smith's ideal plan was never implemented, Brigham Young used it
as a general model for Mormon settlements across the west. (Peterson, p. 68)

8
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Mog of the marble gravestones dating from 1906 to the 1930s are probably the work of Peter Lorenzo Bmnson (1866 to
1842), who hed the only marble yard and monument compary in Fillmore during that period (Warrum, p. 731). His done
carving tools are displayed in the Territorial Statehouse Museum, adonation from his grandson Dennis Bmnson, dso a
Fillmore monument dedler. According to Dennis, the marble his grandfather usad for gravestones camefrom the L eft
Hand Fork of Chak Cresk, afew mileseedt of Fillmore (Carling).

Theearly 1900s was aperiod of expandgon for the cemetery. Willard Rogarswes hired to meke amep of the camnglery on
24 March 1906, which the city council acogpted on 7 May 1906 for the contract price of $50. He was paid $20 for
ancther camgtlery mep ddlivered 13 May 1913. The council requested esimatesfor Theodore Rodgers to draw a new
map on 17 Septamber 1926. The sexton requested an updated cametery migp on 2 March 1932 showing the lotsadded in
the previous six years (Fillmore City)

Fillmore City Council records show thet a number of cemetery improvements were dso undartaken in the eerly 19005
continuing into the mid-1900s. On 3 March 1906 Sexton John Davies agked the Fillmore City Council to buy tools for
the cametary and to repair the fence. The materids and condruction methods of the fencein place a that time are not
known, but if later entries are an indication, it islikely the cametery was fenced with the same wire usad forfiel dfencing,
probably supported by podts of native ceder (juniper). In Decamber 1906 the city council ingructed the sexton to
"Ascertain the cogt of making arabbit tight fence around cemetery and other improvements in and around cemetery ad
report next regular sesson.” Records do nat show whether the rabhbit tight fence or other improvements were completed,
but in 1909 awater settling tank was congtructed a acogt of $565.50. A proposd to build outhouses a the cametary wes
put forth on 11 May 1911, but if they were built, it was not recorded. Records do show that the city agresd to a WPA
proposa on 4 Decamber 1935 to ingall two sanitary toilets a the ceametary

On 6 March 1916 the sexton reported to the council that monuments were encroaching on the dley ways, presumably the
one-hdf rod wakways platted between the blocks. On 1 March 1924 the council acted on areport submitted by a
cangay review committee. After discussng the matter and getting acquainted with conditions a motion was gpproved
that bids be received for moving of the eest fence about four rods eedt to the section line, and that the north fence be
taken down and re-built on the west and eedt lines, running ebout eght rods north. The council gave specifications for
the fencein ameeting on 7 March 1924: "The fenceisto be condructed of fivefoot net wire with one srand of barbed
wireon top. Podsto be st 8 foot gpart, 30 inches in the ground, well braced a comers, to be dapled every ather wire,
and to change wires a every pod. Podts to be saved off a the top about six inches abovewire. City to fumish all
materid.” Another improvement completed in 1924 wes the graveling of the roadsinddethe cemetery. Theroad to the
cameay hed bean hand graded and repaired with hep from the community in 1915.

In 1936 with the hep of the WPA, the city of Fillmore built anew water doragereservoir and laid awater lineto the city
camaay that enddled the planting of treesand shrubbery there (Lyman, p. 291). City Council Membar Oscar Anderson
uggested amgjor improvement to the cemetary in 1936 that his son Rondd recdled yeerslater in an ord histoiy
interview.

Dad was on the town council in Fillmore and James A. Kelly was mayor then. They hed sarted building the new City
Building. Dad went to town council one night and asked Mr. Kelly, and the other council membasif they would like
tofixthe ceamaery and plant pinetreesthere. They said the city couldn't affordit. Dad asked if they would mind if he
didit. They sadif hedid it, paidfor it, and took care of the trees, thet it was okay. (Stringham, P. 86)

Anderson took on the chdlenge and planted 10-yeer-dld pine trees (Colorado goruce) around the perimeter of the
cametery; he handrwatered the treesfor many years to kegp them dive.
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On 23 February 1937 the city council hedd aspedid medting to acogpt bids for acameery improvement project to
condruct weter line tops for the present reservoirs. The following year acattle guard was congmcted a the cemeery
entrance. No other improvements are recorded until 1951, when Orlo Bartholomew wiss advised to plant grass on hdf of
the new cameley plot. Theexact date that the piped sorinkler sysem was ingdled for irrigating lavns and plantingsa
the camalery wiss nat found, but presumebly it weas a about thistime, or grass would not have been planted. A 1949
ordinance to ramove fences from camgery |ots could have bean to expedite lavn mowing. Beattification of the cemetery
was noted with pridein the centennia history of Millard County published in 1951.

The cemetery which used to be adesolate spat, isnow becoming athing of beauty, due to the efforts of
Mayor Howard Johns and the city council. Evergreen trees have bean planted all around the endoaure
forming abeautiful background. An addition hes bean mede to the cametery, the whole of which hesbeen
endased in anew, atractive, weether-proofed iron fence. Omamentd shede trees and lavns have bemn
planted, adding greetly to itsbeauty. Water hes bean piped from agpring and a settling tank built, which
now supplies adeguate water for maintaining growing thingsin the cemetery. The Fillmore Rose Club have
aproject of planting hybrid irisal around the endlosure. Up to date, they have planted over four hundred
iris. (Day, p. 191)

The more recent sections added to the eest and north Sdes of the camaiery follow the grid layout in asimplified verson
of the origina plan without the paths between blocks. While the change may have been to gain more burial goece and
reduce maintenance codts it o follows the generd trend in camelery design toward simplification, especidly in
municipa cameteries with limited resources Maintenance workers and the public often assume that flat markers like
thasein the northem section were an innovation to meke mowing eeder. Sextons whose arews mow over flat markers
soon discover to their digmay that they are mare eedily damaged than upright markers In redlity, they cameinto popular
ue as aresult of early to mid-20* century Modemigt memorid park desgn where the intent was to cregte vidas aoross
expansss of lawn uninterrupted by upright monuments. Future expandgons of the Fillmore City Cametery may again
alow upright markersif they continueto follow nationd trends.

Buridsin the Fillmore City Cangay ,

Buridsin the Fillmore City Cametary include savard of Fillmores foundersand leaders the nemesske of Holden, Utah,
Elijah Holden, and Captain John Williams Gunnison, an Army surveyor and explorer of nationa importance. Severd of
the people buried in the Fillmore City Cametery are assodiated with controverses in the history of the Church of Jesus
Chrig of Latter-day Saints.

Jodah Cal (12 Augug 1821-5 October 1858) wias abrother to Anson Call and heed of one of the 12 origind families
that founded Fillmore. Jodah was dected sheriff in the fall of 1852, apodtion he held until his desth on 5 October 1858
when he and Samud Brown werekilled by hostile Indians while looking for an esder trail to movetheir cattle
downgream through Leamington Canyon. The remains of both men were buried in the Fillmore City Cametary (Lyman,
pp. 56, 81).

William Fdshaw (3 Febmary 1800 - 24 Septembar 1867) was acontractor and builder who worked as a carpenter on the
Kirtland, Ohio, Nauvoo, Illinois, and Sdt Lake City temples of the Church of Jesus Chridt of Latter-Day Saints He wes
gppointed superintendent over the congtruction of theterritorial capitol building in 1851 and sarved in theterritoria
legidaturein 1854. He and others traveled to Wyoming in 1856 to rescue the sranded Willie and Martin handcart
compenies (BYU). Fillmore resdents dected him mayor in 1859 (Lymean, p.96).

Chandler Holbrook (16 Sgatamber 1807 - 8 Sgatembear 1869), ane of the foundersof Fillmore, was a surveyor who
assiged Je=ss= Fox with the origind survey of the city. He was a schod tmstee who dso hdld the dected offices of notary
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public and surveyor. On4 March 1889 he was chosan as one of fivedirectors of the Fillmore branch of Zion Cooperdive
Mercantile Ingtitution (ZCMI) with Thomes Cdlister as presdent (Lyman, p. 49-50, 140).

Elijah Edward Holden (27 March 1826 - 7 Sgptembear 1858) was aformer Mormon Battalion membar who settled with
his family in Cedar Sorings, asmdl village about 12 miles north of Fillmore. While retumingfromdelivering aload of
wool to St Cresk (now Nephi) he and hisyoung hdper Thomes Bailey were caught in ablizzard thet forced them to
abandon their wagon. Holden attempted to carry Bailey to safety, but soon tired and Ieft the boy by the Sde of the trail
wrgpped in his own jacket while he went for hdp. A rescue party found the frozen bodies of Holden and the boy on 8
September 1858, Cadar Srings wias renamed Holden in his honor. Elijah Holden was buried in an unmarked grave in the
Fillmore City Cametery next to hisfirst wife and their daughter, both of whom died during the baby's birth in the soring
of 1856. (Lyman p. 87)

Captain John Gunnison (11 November 1812-24 October 1853), aWest Point graduate and nationally known surveyor
and explorer, wes laid to rest in the Fillmore City Cameay after he and seven mambars of his survey party were killed
by Pahwvant Ute Indians in what bacame known as the Gunnison Massecre  Gunnison was assigned to lead ateam of
Army Corps of Topographica Enginears surveying along the thirty-eighth and thirty-ninth pardlds for a possble
transcontinental railroad route. He hed some familiarity with the Grest Bagn from having bean amembe of Captain
Howard Standoury's expedition to survey the Grest Sdt Lakeand itsvicinity in 1849-50. Hisarriva coincided with a
period of tenson between Indians and white settlers and emigrants that hed resulted in severd killings. He consulted
with Anson Call in Fillmore about the Stuation. Depite the unrest, Gunnison remained confident in his rdationship with
the Indians and the Mormon settlers. He continued his survey, dividing his party into two groups. His amdler group wes
atacked just after sunrise on the morning of 24 October 1853 as the camp wias preparing bregkfast. Severd men survived
and mede their way to the camp of the military detachment accomparnying the expedition. A relief party was quickly
organized and hurried to the messaare Site to search for more survivors, but found none: The bodies of Gunnison and his
Mormon guide William Washington Potter were carried back to Fillmore where Gunnison was buried. Potter's body wes
taken hometo hisfamily in Manti for buria. Therest of the victims were buried & the messsare site. (Lymean, pp. 68-
70)

The controversy that swirled around the desth of Proctor Robison who wes buried in the Fillmore Cemeery after his
degth on 21 September 1857 continued through the 20™ century and hes still not bean put to rest in the 21" century.

Locd dories had suggested that the daying of the Fancher party neer Mountain Meedows in Waghington County by
Mormons mesguerading as Indians wiss in retaiation for the supposed poisoning of a goring neer Com Cresk in Millard
County. After the Fandher wagon train pessad by through in the summer of 1857 there were anumber of desths
atributed to fouled water a the spring: severd Indians, some cattle, and a 14-year-dld boy named Proctor Robison, who
skinned some of the deed cattle. One reseercher conduded that Robison's symptoms were condgtent with anthrax, which
iseadly tranamitted to humanswho come in contact with dricken animas. (Lyman, p. 89)

The continuing controversy over the degth of Robison led to the exnumation of hisremains from his grave in the Fillmore
City Cametery in 2008 to check for evidence of anthrax. A summary of the exhumation report rdeasad by Robison's
gregt-nephew Raymon Carling in November 2011, conduded with thefollowing:

The reaults of gpproximatdy one hundred soil samples taken from Proctor's grave were benign meaning that
anthrax gooreswere not present. Nether wes it detected in the andyds of bone samples taken from Proctor's
body. Therewasininterva of 150 years betwean the time Proctor died and the time the s0il samples were taken
for andyds. However, some scientigs are of the opinion that thisinterva of timeistoo great, given the

A The Gunnison Massacre site, near Hinckley, Utah, was listed on the National Register of historic places on April 30, 1976
(NRIS #76001819). His birthplace, the Gunnison, Capt. John, House, in Goshen, Vermont, was listed on March 26, 1979
(NRIS #79000214).
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environmenta conditionin the Fillmore Cametery, for anthrax to remain in this soil and thet if it ever was presant
it could not be detected today.

So, our efforts to try and determine if anthrax was regpongble for Proctor's degth were inconclusive.

Amasa Lyman is another controversd person buried in the Fillmore City Cametery. Hewas an eaxrly gpodie of The
Church of Jeaus Chrig of Latter-Day Saintswho hed afalling out with church authorities and wes later excommunicated.
Heweas a founder of the Mormon sattlement of Sen Bemardino, Califomia, before moving to Fillmore where he operated
svad sawmillsand agristmill. Not only did he disagree with church authorities, but actively organized agang
theocratic rule by becoming aleader of the Liberd party in Millard County in the 1870s (Lyman, pp. 134, 151)

Developmental history/additional historic context information (if appropriate)

Founding of FillmoreasUtah's Territorial Capitol

On 4 October 1851 the Utah territorial legidature pessad ajoint resolution cregting Millard County from aportion of Iron
County known es "Pahvant Valey," and they namad its county seet Fillmore City. Thisresolution aso rdocated the
territorial capitd to the new community and gppropristed $20,000 toward thet effort. The city was named for U.S.
Presdent Millard Fillmore in recognition of his couragein gppointing Brigham Y oung Uteh's first territorial govemor
despite tendons over the practice of polygamy by members of the Church of Jesus Chrigt of Latter-day Sants
(Mormons). .-

On 21 October two companies szt out from Sdt Lake City for the Pahvant Valey. Brigham Y oung heeded a ddegetion
of lavmakers making the Ste sdection of the territoria capital. The ather company, agroup of thirty families under the
direction of Anson Call, was chosn to gart the sattlement. On 28 Octaber territoria lavmekers sdected a oot for
Fillmore City dong Chak Cresk on the hunting grounds of the Patwart Indians, 150 miles south of Sdt Lake City (Utah
History Encyclopedia). The following day, after first marking the four wings of the satehouse, Jesse Fox began to lay
off the town with the srestson acardind grid. Each tenracre block had eight lots of one and aquarter acres with dregts
eight rods (132 feet) wide. Theterritoria legidature met in St Lake City in February 1852 and gpproved abill to
incorporate the city of Fillmore. The act, Sgned by Govemor Brigham Y oung on 13 February designated the city's
extent: beginning at the southeest comer of the public Suare & Main and Center Sredts;, it dretched threemilesin eech
direction, avery large city, indeed, unless Govemor Y oung redly did intend to rdocate much of St Lake City's
population to Fillmore. (Lyman, pp. 45, 49).

A monumental gatehouse was plamed to be built to house the territorial govemment. Locd red sanddone and native
hend-hean timbers heuled from Parowan were to be ussd inits congtruction. Thefirst wing was completed for the fifth
annua sesson of the Utah territorid legidature which convened in Fillmore on 10 Decamber 1855, The sixth legidéative
sssondso me a Fillmore, but soon adjourned to reconvenein St Lake City. Because the devdopment of southern
Utah was dow and accommodations in Fillmore were inadequate, the capitd was moved to Sdt Lake City. The
Satehouse wias never completed, but the first wing remains Utah's oldest govemmentd building and now sarves as a dae

musum”  (Utah History Encydopedia)

A The Territorial Capitol was listed on the National Register on September 22,1970 (NRIS #70000625).
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10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property  12.6 acres
(Do not include previously listed resource acreage.)

UTM References
(Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet.)

UTM at main gate:

A 12S 386420 4312140 B 12S 386420 4312420
Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing

C 12s 386260 4312420 D 125 386260 4312140
Zone Easting Northing Zone  Easting Northing

Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property.)

The Fillmore City Cameay isbounded by 325 Eagt Street on the west and 700 South Street on the south. The eest
boundary is a gpproximatdy 550 Eadt and the north boundary a gpproximatdy 650 South. See megp for detalled
boundery.

Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected.)

Thisisthe devdoped portion of the cametery, including the oldest sectionsthet are still in ective use

11. Form Prepared By

nameftitte Shalae A. Larsen

organization 10 Design Collaborative, LLC date February 16, 2012

street & number 614 24* Street telephone 801-390-9925

city or town Ogden state  Utah Zip code 84401-2501
e-mail shalaefSiodesioncollaborative.com

Additional Documentation
Submit the following items with the completed form:

« Maps: A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources. Key all
photographs to this map.

+ Continuation Sheets

* Additional items: (Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items.)
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Photographs:

Submit clear and descriptive photographs. The size of each image must be 1600x1200 pixels at 300 ppi (pixels per inch)
or larger. Key all photographs to the sketch map.

Name of Propaty: Fillmore City Canetery
City or Vicinity: Fillmore

Courty: Millard Sae Utah
Photographer: Shelee Larsen

Dae Photogrgphed:  3/31/2011 and 8/21/2011
Description of Photograph(s) and number:

1of 34: View from outsde the northwest comer of the cemelery |ooking southeadt towards main entry gates

20of 34: View fromthe intersection of the northem and second-fromwestemrmod internd camelery drives, looking
outheedt acrass camdery.

3of 34: View from the northemrmogt (Eagt-Wedt oriented) intema cametery drive looking south dong the middle
(North-South oriented) canetery drive.

4 of 34: View from the intersection of the northem and second-from-eastam-mogt intema cemetery drives, looking
outhwest across cameery.

50f 34: View from second-fromreestem-mogt (North-South oriented) looking west dong the middle (Eas-West
oriented) intemd cametay drive.

6 of 34: View from sscond-from-eagtam-maogt (North-South oriented) intemal cemetery drive, looking Wes dong the
northem-mogt (East-West Oriented) sandgone cart path.

7 of 34: View from second-from-eastam-maogt (North-South oriented) intema cemeery drive, looking West dong the
middle (Eag-West Oriented) sandgone cart path.

8of 34: View from the intersection of the second-fromeestem-mog (North-South oriented) and southem mogt (East-
Wegt oriented) intemd cemetery drives, looking south through the utility access gate. The gate is mede of iron
and the words "Fillmore City Cemetery” are pdled out aoross the gates, reedabdle from the outside (Southem)
direction.

90of 34: View fromthe intersection of the sscond-from-eestentmogt (North-South oriented) and southem mogt (East-
West oriented) intema cemetary drives, looking northwest across cemetery.

10 of 34: View from the southemHmog (East-\West oriented) intema cemetay drive, looking north dong the eestam-
mog (North-South oriented) sandgtone cart peth.

11 of 34: View fromthe intersection of the southem (Eagt-West oriented) intemd cameery drive looking north dong the
middle (North-South oriented) intema cametery drive.
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12 of 34: View from the southem (Eagt-West oriented) intema cemetay drive, looking north dong the middle (North-
South oriented) sandgtone cart path.

13 of 34: View from the southem (Eag-West oriented) intema camngey drive, looking north aong the western (North-
South oriented) sandgtone cart path.

14 of 34: View fromthe intersection of the southem (East-West oriented) and the ssoond from westem (North-South
oriented) intema cametery drives, looking northeest across cametary.

15 of 34: View fromthe sscond from wesem (North-South oriented) cemetery drive, looking eest dong the southem
(Eas-West oriented) sanddone cart path.

16 of 34: View from the ssoond from westen (North-South oriented) cametery drive, looking eegt dong the middle
(Eas-West oriented) sanddone cart path.

17 of 34: View from the ssoond from Westerm-most (North-South oriented) cemetery drive, looking Eagt dong the
Northem-mogt (East-West oriented) sandgtone cart path.

18 of 34: View from the intersection of the second-fromwestemrmogt and middle (Eagt-West oriented) intema cemetery
drives, looking southeedt across the cemetery.

19 of 34: View from the middle (Eag-West oriented) intema cemetery drive, looking south dong the westem (North-
South oriented) sandgtone cart path.

20 of 34: View fromthe middle (East-West oriented) intema cametary drive, looking south dong the middle (North-
South oriented) sandgtone cart path.

21 of 34: View from the middle (Eas-West oriented) intemd cametery drive, looking south dong the middle (North-
South oriented) intema cemetary drive.

22 of 34: View from the middle (Eas-West oriented) intemd cemeery drive, looking south aong the eestem (North-
South oriented) sandgtone cart path.

23 of 34: View from the middle (North-South oriented) intema cametery drive, looking west dong the northem (East-
West oriented) sanddone cart path.

24 of 34: View from the middle (North-South oriented) intemd cameery drive, looking eest dong the northem (Eadt-
Wegt oriented) sandgone cart path.

25 of 34: View from the middie (North-South oriented) intemd cameery drive, looking west dong the middle (Eagt-
Wegt oriented) sandgtone cart path.

26 of 34: View from the middle (North-South oriented) intemd cameery drive, looking eest dong the middle (Eag-West
oriented) sandgtone cart path.
27 of 34: View of monument marking the burid site of Cgptain John W. Gunnison.

28 of 34: View of monument for Elijah Holden, whoisburied in an unmarked location somewhere in the cemetery.
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29 of 34: View of monument marking the burid dte of Robison Proctor.

30 of 34: View of monument marking the buria dte of Josah Call.

31 of 34: View of monument for Charles Hopkins, who is buried in an unmarked location somewherein the cemetery.

3 of 34: View of monument marking the buria dte of William Feshaw.

33 of 34: View of monument marking the burid dteof AmesaLyman. >

34 of 34: View of monument marking the burid ste of Chandler Holbrook.

3 of 37 Typicad condition of cametery block merker, showing sandgone exposed a the surface of the ground.
Locationsae noted on the existing conditions plan.

36 of 37: Typicd condition of sanddone cart paths Locaionsae noted on the exigting conditionsplans -

37 of 37: View looking Northeast towards information kiosk and storage building.

Propaty Owner:

(Complete this item at the request of the SHPO or FPO.)

name Lisa Crodand, Fllmore City Corporetion

dregt & numbar 75 West Canter Street telephone 435-743-5233

city or town Hllmaore state JJT zip code 84631

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate
properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to this request is required to obtain a
benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C.460 et seq ).

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18 hours per response including time for reviewing
instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect of
this form to the Office of Planning and Performance Management. U.S. Dept. of the Interior, 1849 C. Street, NW, Washington, DC.
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Endosad pleese find the regidtration form and documentati@n for the following Nationa Regiger *
nominations that have bean gpproved by the Sate Hidtoric Preservation Review Board and the Utah State
BispissPegggnvation Officer for nomination to the National Register of Historic Places:

"Fillmore City Camatery Fillmore, Millard Co.
Bdvedere Apatments SAt Lake City, Sdt Leke Co.
Booth-Parsons House SAt Lake City, Sdt Leke Co.

Thank you for your assstiance with these nomination. Flesse contact me a 801/533-3559, or &
coryjensen@utah.gov if you haveay questions.

J. Cory ilenserv/

Architecturd Historian

National Register Coordinator

Office of Higtoric Preservation
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TO: Carol Shull, Keeper,
National Register of Historic Places
RECEIVED
FROM: Cory Jensen, National Register Coordinator 1
Utah State Historic Preservation Office MR 30 202
SUBJECT: National Register Nominati NA RECSTER CF HISIL -
ional Register Nomination Iy Bl
The following materids ae submitted on this day of. 2012.

for the nomination of the Fillmore City Cemetery
to the National Regigter of Historic Places:
1 Original National Regigter of Historic Places nomination form
Multiple Property Documentation form
37  Photographic Prints
Supplementa Photographs (prints or image fileson CD-R)
J Gold Archival CD-R w/Image Files& Nomination PDF
J Origina USGS Map(s)
4 Sketch Map (s)/Figure(9
Fieces of Correspondence
Other

COMMENTS: Pess=review

: Fnf questions pleese contact Cory Jensen at 801/533-3559, or coryjensen@utah.gov

HISbry -

ANTIQUITIES
HISTORIC PRESERVATION
RESEARCH CENTER & COLLECTIONS 300 S. RIO GRANDE STREET, SALT LAKE CITY, UT 84101-1182 TELEPHONE 801 533-3500 « FACSIMILE 801 533-3567 * HISTORYUTAH.COV



